
Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

1 
 

                        OAK RIDGE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING 
MAY 1, 2025 – 7:00 P.M. 
OAK RIDGE TOWN HALL 

 
 

MINUTES 
 
 
Members Present     Staff Present 
Jim Kinneman, Mayor     Bill Bruce, Town Manager 
Mike Stone, Mayor Pro Tem    Ashley Royal, Deputy Town Clerk 
Ann Schneider      Sean Taylor, Planning Director 
Jim Harton       Sam Anders, Finance Of�icer 
       Michael Thomas, Town Attorney    
 
Members Absent     Staff Absent   
Michael Greeson     Sandra Smith, Asst. Town Mgr./Town Clerk 
    

   
     

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
Mayor Jim Kinneman called the meeting to order at 7:04 p.m.  
   

A. Invocation 
 
Town of Stokesdale Mayor Pro Tem Derek Foy offered the invocation. 

 
B. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
  

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
    

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to approve the agenda, and Councilwoman Ann 
Schneider seconded. The motion passed unanimously (4-0).   
 
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 

Councilman Jim Harton made a motion to approve the minutes of the April 3, 2025 regular 
meeting, April 7, 2025 special called meeting, and February 12, 2025 special called meeting. 
Councilwoman Ann Schneider seconded the motion, and it passed unanimously (4-0). 

 
 
4. RESOLUTIONS, PROCLAMATIONS, ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

2 
 

Mayor Jim Kinneman proclaimed the �irst full week of May as Municipal Clerk’s 
Week and acknowledged the contributions of Town Clerk/Assistant Town Manager 
Sandra Smith and Deputy Town Clerk Ashley Royal to the Town and its citizens. 

  
 

5. REPORT FROM GUILFORD COUNTY SHERIFF’S OFFICE 
 

 No report 
 

             
6. REPORT FROM OAK RIDGE FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 

Assistant Fire Chief Sam Anders reported on training and call statistics for April 
2025.  He emphasized the importance of hydration during the summer months. 
 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Text Amendment. Amendment to Section 30-331 (Permitted Uses); Section 30-957 
(Parking General Requirements); Section 30-9 (De�initions); and Section 30, Article IX 
Division 5 Development Standards; of the Town of Oak Ridge Code of Ordinances to allow 
Event Centers as a use by right in the GO-M (General Of�ice – Medium Intensity) district, GB 
(General Business) district, SC (Shopping Center) district, PI (Public and Institutional) 
district and as a Special Use Permit (S) in the AG (Agricultural) and RS-40 (Residential) 
districts. 
 

Planning Director Sean Taylor explained that the proposed text amendment had 
been introduced at the previous month’s meeting and explained that event centers 
were being proposed as a use by right within the general of�ice, general business, 
shopping center, public and institutional districts, and as a special use by permit in 
the AG and RS-40 districts. He added that the Planning & Zoning (P&Z) Board had 
voted to deny the proposed amendment based on the inclusion of the RS-40 district 
and stressed their recommendation that it be removed. 
 
Kinneman explained that 20 minutes to speak would be given to individuals in favor 
of the proposed text amendment and another 20 minutes to those in opposition, 
followed with a �ive-minute period of rebuttals for both sides. He added that 
discussion by members of council would then occur.  
 
Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone suggested that a representative of the P&Z Board 
provide an overview of the Board’s discussions of the proposed Text Amendment 
prior to conducting the public hearing. Kinneman agreed. 
 
P&Z Board Chair Jason Streck, 8518 Rosedale Drive, explained that the Board had 
unanimously voted at its last meeting to deny the text amendment as written 
because of the inability of the P&Z Board to hear from residents during a public 
hearing and due to what members thought was the inappropriateness of locating an 
event center in a RS-40 district. Streck stated that allowing an event center in an RS-
40 district through rezoning rather than a Special Use Permit would be more 
ef�icient due to the transferability to a new owner. 
 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

3 
 

Kinneman opened the public hearing. 
 
Proponents 
 
Bill Greco with Land Solutions, P.O. Box 347 in Oak Ridge, pointed out that event 
centers as a standalone use were not provided for in the Town’s ordinances, while 
several other uses such as bowling centers and �ish hatcheries were cited as 
allowable uses. He stated that there was a need for event centers in the Town. He 
acknowledged the resistance to allowing events centers in AG and RS-40 districts 
with a Special Use Permit but pointed out that the Development Ordinance said that 
Special Use Permits can be revoked, are transferable with the land, and can have 
conditions and restrictions imposed on them at will by Council. Consequently, the 
application process for the Special Use Permit would require careful scrutiny. By 
contrast, Greco pointed out that the current Land Use Plan allowed RS-40 and AG 
uses as family care facilities, daycare facilities, homeless shelters, or LCID (land 
clearing and inert debris) land�ills without the bene�it of �irst undergoing a public 
hearing or Town Council review as long as development standards had been met. 
Greco further asserted that special uses in RS-40 currently allowed applications for 
athletic �ields, lodges, golf courses, equestrian centers, and swim and tennis clubs, 
all of which he contended were similar in nature to an event center. He pointed out 
that event centers were not used exclusively to hold weddings, but also for other 
events such as retreats and corporate gatherings.  
 
Greco addressed the concern regarding the lack of public input on a Special Use 
Permit by citing his personal experience when applying for a Special Use Permit for 
a swim and tennis facility which drew large public attention and was ultimately 
denied. He pointed out that applicants tend to seek community engagement in 
support of their application, thereby enlisting public opinion in their efforts. 
 
Greco noted that he had not identi�ied a speci�ic property in the RS-40 district to 
pursue use of it as an event center. He said that rezoning an RS-40 property for 
commercial use or downgrading its zoning to AG based on density would make it 
incompatible with the Land Use Plan. He contended that Special Use Permits are tied 
to the land for the use that is issued to it and that the permit will carry over in a sale 
of the land to new owners. This, he noted, would protect the investment made in the 
business for which the property was permitted. He stressed that Special Use Permits 
were carefully enforced to avoid any deviations from their permitted use, and that 
several RS-40 and AG properties in the Town were suf�iciently large parcels of land 
to sustain special use as an event center. 
 
Opponents 
 
P&Z Vice Chair Patti Paslaru, 8543 Linville Road, stressed the unanimous vote by 
the P&Z Board to deny the proposed text amendment for its inclusion of RS-40 
districts. She contended that according to Planning Director Taylor, the Special Use 
Permit would be valid only through the applicant’s ownership of the property. 
Taylor interrupted to explain that all Special Use Permits are attached to the 
property and not to the owner, but that attaching the permit to the owner could be 
proposed as a condition of the permit. Paslaru pointed out that by Taylor’s 
admission, 90 percent of current RS-40 properties would not meet the necessary 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

4 
 

requirements and should thereby not be included in the text amendment. She 
asserted that the proposed text amendment was being constructed for the property 
at the corner of Bunch Road and NC 150 to pursue use as an event center. She 
argued that zoning ordinances or changes should be relevant to the Town at large 
instead of to a single piece of property. Paslaru pointed out that the noise and traf�ic 
generated by event centers would be inconvenient in a residential area. She stated 
that public comment to the P&Z Board would not be allowed until after the permit 
had been approved for use, and that enforcement of permit conditions were 
typically reactive to damage which had already taken place. She noted that the P&Z 
Board recommended additional review of the text amendment and proposed 
separate zoning for event centers, arguing that the Board saw a need to manage 
where events centers should be allowed and how they should operate. 
 
P&Z Chair Jason Streck, 8518 Rosedale Drive, noted a con�lict in whether the text 
amendment was constructed to bene�it a speci�ic property as he said the Board was 
led to believe, or if there was no single property in mind for the text amendment as 
previously stated by Greco. He further commented on the misinformation regarding 
the terms of validity for a Special Use Permit, questioning whether it went with the 
property or was attached to the owner. He asserted that the Board could not make a 
reasonable recommendation based on misinformation. He urged clari�ication of the 
aforementioned points. 
 
Rebuttals in favor 
 
Bill Greco, P.O. Box 347, Oak Ridge, reiterated his understanding that a Special Use 
Permit was attached to a property and not to an owner. He further contended that 
he was the applicant of the proposed text amendment and that no other person was 
associated with the application. He advocated allowing those RS-40 properties 
which could meet the necessary requirements the option to pursue such an 
application, saying that they should not be excluded from consideration due to their 
few numbers. Grecco said that traf�ic issues would be alleviated by mandating 
commercial driveways for an event center from NC DOT. He addressed the potential 
for noise pollution generated by contending that hours of operation and decibel 
levels could be regulated in a Special Use Permit as well as by law enforcement for 
noise ordinance violations. 
 
Rebuttals in opposition 
 
Patti Paslaru, 8543 Linville Road, noted that NC DOT studies were outdated and 
irrelevant to the current needs of the Town. She added that if 90 percent of all RS-40 
properties would not meet the Special Use Permit requirements, then they were not 
appropriate in RS-40 districts. She advocated allowing the P&Z Board the 
opportunity to construct a special zoning allowance for event centers and remove 
RS-40 districts from consideration under the proposed text amendment. 
 
Jason Streck, 8518 Rosedale Drive, emphasized that the proposed text amendment 
had been intentionally constructed to allow use of a speci�ic RS-40 property as a 
wedding venue.  
 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

5 
 

Kinneman closed the public hearing. He asked Taylor for clari�ication on the 
survivorship of the Special Use Permit. Taylor responded that the Special Use Permit 
is tied to the property for that speci�ic use, although it could instead be tied to the 
property owner as a condition of the permit. Councilwoman Ann Schneider veri�ied 
that only Town Council could impose such a condition to a speci�ic Special Use 
Permit. 
 
Council discussion 
 
Mayor Pro Tem Stone asked Greco about the process of applying for a Special Use 
Permit. Greco responded that as with the processes for site planning, Town 
ordinance required a presubmittal conference with staff to discuss a Special Use 
Permit application, during which speci�ic requirements are discussed and 
negotiations are made to add or remove conditions. Then the application is 
reviewed at a Council meeting, at which time Council can impose additional 
conditions. Stone asked at what point during the application process would public 
comment and community outreach be sought. Greco responded that the 
Development Ordinance encouraged but did not require community outreach 
during the application process for site plans, rezonings, and Special Use Permit 
requests. 
 
Stone asked if citizens would be permitted to speak before approval or denial of a 
Special Use Permit application. Town Attorney Michael Thomas responded that a 
Special Use Permit application would come before Council in an evidentiary hearing, 
not a public hearing, during which only individuals with standing, or a direct 
connection, can offer relevant evidence may speak. He explained that the zoning or 
rezoning of a property is established through a public hearing and that a Special Use 
Permit acted like an overlay that would run with that land, much like a deed or an 
easement. He added that a Special Use Permit becomes permanent subject to 
compliance with development standards and conditions imposed by Council. He 
noted that the permit stayed with the parcel as long as the conditions were met and 
adhered to, but that it would be revocable by Council for violations or cessation of 
use for a period of time. Thomas further clari�ied that staff may become involved in 
the preparation of the Special Use Permit application, but that the permit would not 
go before the P&Z Board because the Board cannot give advisory opinions which are 
relevant in an evidentiary hearing. 
 
Councilwoman Ann Schneider clari�ied that a property with a Special Use Permit to 
operate as an event center would retain its RS-40 zoning classi�ication if the 
property owner were to choose not to continue operating as an event center. 
Additionally, she expressed concern at the unanimity of opinion of P&Z Board 
members against the proposed text amendment based on their inability to hear a 
Special Use Permit case and render an advisory opinion to Council due to 
restrictions of it being a quasi-judicial procedure. She acknowledged that the 
Honeycutt house, may have originally inspired the proposed text amendment, but 
she saw merit in the text amendment beyond that particular property. Schneider 
acknowledged that the number of RS-40 properties that would qualify for a Special 
Use Permit as an event center was very small, but she pointed out that among those 
properties were historic homes that could bene�it from revitalization as event 
centers. She lamented that Council could not rely on advisory opinions from boards 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

6 
 

in this case but realized that there would be suf�icient impetus for Council to use 
great care when granting a Special Use Permit in an RS-40 zone. She said that 
parking and commercial entrance requirements alone would eliminate many RS-40 
properties from qualifying. She noted additionally that subdivision HOA bylaws 
would prohibit such a use.  
 
Kinneman clari�ied that the text amendment originated from a citizen request and 
was not initiated by staff. He expressed a desire to broaden the eligibility 
requirements for individuals to speak on an application to allow more individuals to 
comment. He urged that the text amendment be reviewed based on its application to 
the entire Town rather than to one speci�ic property, and that the review process be 
thorough to avoid future issues. He admitted that the unanimity of vote to deny the 
text amendment by the P&Z Board gave him pause to re�lect on the need to 
reconsider alternative options. 
 
Schneider added that rezoning would be an alternative to applying for a Special Use 
Permit although doing so would run counter to the Land Use Plan. She stated that 
she would not favor this option in order to keep the Town's commercial core 
centrally concentrated except for grandfathered properties. 
 
Stone pointed out that an event center could be in a subdivision which does not 
have covenants barring such a use. He pointed out that rezoning or granting a 
Special Use Permit for an event center would be incompatible with the Land Use 
Plan. He said that pursuing the use as an event center through the rezoning process 
would be preferred because it allowed for public comment and input from the P&Z 
Board. 
 
Kinneman resisted the idea of rezoning because of its permanence and the inability 
for Council to impose conditions. Schneider added that Special Use Permits can be 
de�ined on a case-by-case basis. She compromised by suggesting the removal of RS-
40 from the text amendment for more study, and assignment of event centers as a 
use by right to GO, GOM, GB, shopping center, public and institutional zones and AG. 
Harton agreed with the suggested compromise and expressed concern with event 
centers in the RS-40 district. 
 
Taylor proposed adding a minimum acreage quali�ication of three acres in AG and 
RS-40 zones as a condition of the Special Use Permit. 
 

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to deny the text amendment and remand it to 
staff for further review, and Mayor Jim Kinneman seconded. 
 

Stone agreed that additional study of the proposed amendment was required to 
determine issues such as parking, enforcement of permit conditions, and minimum 
lot sizes. 
 
Town Manager Bill Bruce stated that the public hearing for the revised proposed 
text amendment would be readvertised. 
 

The motion passed unanimously (4-0). 
 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

7 
 

Thomas advised that the text amendment be tabled until a later date and that both 
staff and the P&Z Board be informed of its status. 
 

B. Lease or Rental of Real Property. Approval of Resolution R-2025-04 to authorize 
lease or rental of real property of the Town of Oak Ridge as described as a single-
family residence, located on Town Park property, and having the street address of 
8326 Linville Road, for a term of one (1) year subject to renewal. The recommended 
annual rental or lease payment for the real property described is $17,940.00 
($1,495.00 per month). 

 
Kinneman noted that the resolution would be considered in two parts. Bruce 
explained that the public hearing would �irst be held for Council to consider the 
resolution and declare that the property would not be needed for a public purpose 
in the ensuing 12 months, and then to authorize the property to be leased or rented. 
 
Kinneman explained that there would be 20 minutes for those in favor and another 
20 minutes for those in opposition to speak. 
 
Proponents 

 
Patti Paslaru, 8543 Linville Road, spoke in favor of the opportunity to generate 
revenue of a Town owned property that is not in use. 
 
Opponents 
 
None 
 
Kinneman closed the public hearing. 
 
Council Discussion 
 
Stone recommended removing the fourth paragraph of the resolution, which is 
hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the minutes. The paragraph 
stated that renters or lessees of the property could report suspicious or 
inappropriate behavior on Town property to the Town or law enforcement. He 
contended that the statement would be unenforceable. Thomas concurred that the 
statement was unnecessary to the resolution, but that it indicated a common-sense 
anticipation that a renter would act protectively towards the property and the 
adjacent park. 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to approve Resolution R-2025-04 with a 
modi�ication to paragraph four. Councilwoman Ann Schneider seconded the motion and 
suggested that paragraph four be eliminated rather than modi�ied, and Stone agreed. The 
motion passed unanimously (4-0). 
 

Deputy Town Clerk Ashley Royal introduced the recommendations made by the 
Parks & Recreation (P&R) Advisory Board regarding the proposed rental of the 
property at 8326 Linville Road. She stated that Triad Home Property Management 
Company had been recommended as the rental property management company for 
the property. She added that $1495.00 was the suggested monthly rental rate for a 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

8 
 

lease term of 12 months, which would not include utility fees but would include a 
security deposit of one month’s rent and a pet deposit of $250 for up to two pets 
whose total weight could not exceed 50 pounds. She pointed out that the septic tank 
had been recently pumped and that the P&R Advisory Board recommended the 
installation of a privacy fence whose estimated cost was $2,300 for a six-foot 
wooden fence and $2,800 for a 6-foot white vinyl fence to be installed by two or 
three park staff members over a period of two days. She added that park staff would 
maintain the lawn on the property. She requested Council’s approval to rent the 
property. 
 

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the Parks & Recreation Advisory 
Board’s recommendations regarding the rental of park property located at 8326 Linville Road, 
and Councilman Jim Harton seconded. 
 

Schneider commented on the bene�it of generating revenue off a property which had 
been unoccupied for over one year. She noted its modest size and believed the 
rental rate to be acceptable. She agreed to allow pets and believed Triad Home 
Property Management Company terms to be reasonable. She favored a white vinyl 
fence to be installed for its durability. 
 
Stone similarly agreed to allow pets. He asked if the 12-month lease would be 
renewable for another 12-month term or if it would be rentable monthly. Royal 
responded that it would be renewable for a 12-month term. Stone questioned park 
staff maintenance of the property, and Royal explained that park staff currently 
maintained the yard, but that they would not maintain inside the privacy fence if 
one were installed as this would become the responsibility of the renter. She noted 
that these terms would be written into the lease. Stone pointed out that revenue 
would not be generated from the property’s rental for two months due to the cost of 
the privacy fence. 
 
Harton minimized the impact of losing two month’s rent due to the cost of the 
privacy fence. He spoke in favor of moving forward with renting the park property. 
 
Kinneman noted his favor of the selection of the property management company, 
the recommended rental rate, installation of a vinyl fence for its durability and low-
maintenance, lawn maintenance by park staff, and allowing pets as part of the rental 
terms. 
 

The motion passed unanimously (4-0). 
 
 Royal inquired if the white vinyl fence was included in the approved motion. 
 
Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the installation of a white vinyl fence 
at an estimated cost of $2,800, and Councilman Jim Harton seconded. 
 

Stone asked to amend the motion to state that the cost of the fence would not exceed 
$2,800, and Schneider rejected the suggested modi�ication. 
 

The motion passed (3-1) with Mayor Pro Tem Stone voting in opposition. 
 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

9 
 

 
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS / COMMUNITY ORGANIZATION REPORTS 
 

A. Triad Municipal ABC report 
 

• Jimm Barbery, 7903 Quiet Place, presented the quarterly ABC report, citing a 
�irst quarter distribution of $45,713 to the Town. He reported that the impact of 
tariffs would not be registered for several months as prices of ABC goods were 
�ixed by the state for a period of six months. 

 
B. Other Community Organization Reports 

 
• Angie Williams, Oak Ridge Military Academy, 2317 Oak Ridge Road, invited 

Council to attend the Academy’s night parade and Baccalaureate event on May 
16 at 8:00 p.m., and graduation ceremony on May 17 at 10:00 a.m. 

 
C. Comments from the Public 

 
• Bill Goebel, 1402 Westridge Road in Greensboro, gifted the Town a framed print 

by Bill Mangum of the Old Mill of Guilford on behalf of his family and the Lions 
Club. 

 
• George McClellan, 2806 Oak Ridge Road, spoke on the safe conditions of the 

natural gas pipeline running through Oak Ridge and urged Council not to act on 
a matter which is within the federal government’s purview. 

 
• Brenda Cheney, 5811 Billet Road, acknowledged that the gas pipeline expansion 

would run through her horse farm within close proximity to her home. She 
stated that she had asked county commissioners and the Town Council to assist 
her in initiating communication with Williams Transco Company. She asked 
Council to pass a resolution in opposition to the pipeline expansion project in 
hopes that the resolution would attract attention from state legislators. 

 
 

9. TOWN MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

A. Consideration/Approval of Reappointment of Kyle Anders to Parks & 
Recreation Advisory Board 
 
Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the reappointment of Kyle 
Anders to the Parks & Recreation Advisory Board, and Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone 
seconded. The motion passed unanimously (4-0). 
 

B. Consideration/Approval of drainage issue repair in Heritage Farm Park 
 

Town Manager Bruce requested approval to replace collapsed clay pipe and repair 
the associated sinkhole at Heritage Farm Park near the Oak Ridge Swim Club. He 
explained that the clay pipe was a decades-old installation which had collapsed in 
several areas and created sinkholes. He said that damage to the asphalt pathway 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

10 
 

above the underground pipe was imminent. Bruce stated that of three bids received, 
staff recommended the bid from Piedmont Site Works, which had submitted the 
lowest bid at $18,220. 
 

Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the low bid of $18,220 as submitted 
by Piedmont Site Works and as recommended by staff. Councilman Jim Harton seconded the 
motion. 
 

Schneider pointed out that the issue was discovered after the project was awarded 
to Bar Construction. Stone stressed that the issue was not an oversight, but an issue 
which arose unexpectedly. 
 

The motion passed unanimously (4-0). 
 
C. Consideration/Approval of Duke Energy proposal for lighting 

 
Bruce explained that lighting of the sidewalk areas around the Farmhouse and 
connecting it to the parking lot at Lisa Drive were included in the original plan for 
the Town Park Entrance Master Plan. He noted that the bid that was awarded to WC 
Construction included a design for bollard lighting at a cost of $45,000, which was 
removed by Council for cost savings. He added that recent rebids for lights produced 
a quote of $44,045 from Oak Ridge Electric for bollard lighting and a ten-year 
contract with Duke Energy for pedestrian streetlights at a cost of $308 per pole per 
month. As the lighting scopes were dissimilar, Bruce requested Council’s guidance 
on whether to move forward with one or the other proposal or to investigate the 
lighting options further.  
 

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to continue consideration of the lighting proposals 
until the Council meeting in June, and Mayor Jim Kinneman seconded. 
 

Stone expressed concern with timely service delivery by Duke Energy. He expressed 
uncertainty about the number of bollard lights recommended in the electrical scope 
submitted by Oak Ridge Electric. He asked if a contract had been obtained from 
Duke Energy, and Bruce said no. 
 
Schneider stressed the need for lighting for the Town Park entrance, to encompass 
both the Farmhouse and for recreational usage. She favored the Duke Energy 
proposal for its ease and reliability but noted that she would also agree to the Oak 
Ridge Electric proposal despite its higher upfront cost. 

 
Kinneman pointed out that a cost analysis had not been suf�iciently studied to 
ascertain if the two dissimilar proposals would be comparable. He said he favored 
the Duke Energy plan because of its compatibility with the future street lighting 
program for the Town. He explained that the upfront purchase and installation cost, 
coupled with the total predicted maintenance and replacement costs for the bollard 
lights, would be higher than the 10- to 12-year �ixed cost for lighting and 
maintenance of the streetlights by Duke Energy. Kinneman encouraged delaying the 
consideration of the proposals in order to perform a cost analysis over the lifespan 
of both lighting options. 
 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

11 
 

Schneider agreed with Kinneman that the projected costs of the Duke Energy 
lighting option would be cheaper, and she advocated moving forward with the 
proposal. 
 
Stone pointed out several pieces of information that had not been clari�ied 
regarding the durability and maintenance expense of bollard lights and about future 
street light programs for the Town. Kinneman said that the pedestrian lights in the 
proposal were not intended to be a considered as a service offered by the Town. He 
stated that a discussion of a street light program would be premature at this 
juncture and that he would be agreeable to take additional time to further 
investigate the lighting options. 
 

The motion passed (3-1) with Councilwoman Ann Schneider voting against. 
 

Kinneman called for a recess at 9:00 p.m. 
 
Council returned from recess at 9:04 p.m. 
 
 

10. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. Consideration/Approval of R-2025-05 Opposing House and Senate zoning bills 
 

Schneider clari�ied that the resolution opposed NC House Bill 765, which proposed 
to remove local zoning authority from NC towns and cities. She read the resolution 
aloud, which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the minutes. 
 

Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone made a motion to approve Resolution R-2025-05, and Councilman 
Jim Harton seconded. After comments from Council, the motion passed unanimously (4-0). 
 
B. Consideration/Approval of Updated Water Fees & Charges Schedule 

 
Bruce described the changes recommended by the Water Advisory Committee to the 
Water Fees and Charges Schedule. He reported that the Committee proposed a 
water service connection fee of $2,000 and explained that the fee would cover the 
costs to add service connections line on NC 150 and Linville Road as well as future 
water lines, installation of the water tap, and the cost to bore under the road if 
necessary. He said that the Committee suggested waiving the $2,000 connection fee 
during pre-construction and construction phases of the water main to incentivize 
connections. He stated that the Committee also recommended an annual review of 
the water fees and charges schedule. 
 

Councilman Jim Harton made a motion to approve the revised Water Fees and Charges 
Schedule, and to waive the connection fees for the NC 150 and Linville Road water main 
through the period of its construction. Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone seconded. The motion 
passed unanimously (4-0). 
 
C. Presentation of Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget 

 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

12 
 

Finance Committee Chair Stuart Mease, 1810 Wild Fern Drive, stated that the 
Committee recommended the tax rate remain unchanged even with ongoing 
strategic investments in long-term infrastructure such as the water system. He 
explained that efforts had been made to seek funding sources such as grants to help 
subsidize such projects without adding �inancial burden to taxpayers. He said that 
the Committee emphasized community development and quality of life 
enhancements in the budget, citing Heritage Farm Park, Veterans Honor Green, and 
the Farmhouse Community Center as examples. Mease forecasted a 4.6 percent 
increase in revenue through anticipated increases in rental income from added 
facilities, and 4.4 percent in expenditures, leaving a surplus in the budget. He said 
that the average home value in Oak Ridge had increased 4 percent annually to a 
current value of $566,000, and he attributed the increase to years of careful 
planning and prudent �iscal management by the Town. 
 
Bruce presented the draft budget, which is hereby incorporated by reference and 
made a part of the minutes. He summarized that the budget surplus re�lected in part 
the more modest capital projects planned for the �iscal year, and that the two large 
capital projects –  construction of the water main and water tower – were in 
separate capital project ordinances and were fully grant funded. He added that the 
operational budget would be funded by tax revenue, park facility rental revenue, 
and other intergovernmental sources. He stated that the budget consideration for 
approval would occur in a public hearing the following month but that the budget 
message was publicly available on the website and at Town Hall. 
 
 

11. MONTHLY FINANCIAL UPDATE 
 

Finance Of�icer Sam Anders presented the �inancial report for the month of April 
2025, which is hereby incorporated by reference and made a part of the minutes.  

 
Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to approve the �inance report as presented by 
the Finance Of�icer, and Councilman Jim Harton seconded. The motion passed unanimously (4-
0). 
 

 
12. COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 

A. Special Events Committee 
 
Patti Dmuchowski reported that Phase 2 of the Veterans Honor Green project was 
anticipated to begin sometime in May by Parker Construction Company and would 
be completed by the end of the summer. She added that a third order of engraved 
bricks was pending and that the Memorial Day observance featuring guest speaker 
Representative Virginia Fox was scheduled at Town Hall on May 26 at 10:00 a.m. 
Dmuchowski acknowledged outgoing scout liaison Olivia Rudolph for her 
participation in the Committee.  
 

B. Tree Board 
  
No report 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

13 
 

 
C. Parks & Recreation Advisory Board 

 
Co-Chair John Browning reported on upcoming events being held at the park 
including Music in the Park and Flag Day, which would honor the 250th birthday of 
the US Army. He stated that the asphalt repair of damage caused by river birch trees 
along the park walkway was complete as was Mattie’s Garden, a memorial garden 
donated by the Hoffman family. 
 

D. Finance Committee 
 

Previously reported 
 

E. Water Advisory Committee 
 

Chair Spencer Sullivan reported that he had been elected the committee’s chair and 
Brian Hall had been elected Vice Chair. He stated that the committee had 
recommended an updated rate and fee schedule, reviewed an informational 
brochure and marketing strategies promoting the municipal water system, and 
recommended changes to the subdivision ordinance related to town water. 
 

F. Historic Preservation Commission 
 

No report 
 

G. Planning & Zoning Board 
 

Previously reported 
 

H. Board of Adjustment 
 

No report 
 

I. Mountains-to-Sea Trail Committee 
 

No report 
 

J. Conservation Easement Committee 
 
No report 
 
 

13. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 

• Deborah Cimbala, 6698 Currieton Drive, expressed a desire to have a public forum 
to discuss the Transco Pipeline expansion project with representatives from 
Williams Company. 
 
 

14. COUNCIL COMMENTS 



Town Council Minutes: May 1, 2025 

14 
 

 
Mayor Pro Tem Mike Stone stated that he would be in favor of having a civil 
discussion with citizens, state, county and local of�icials, and Williams Company 
about the pipeline expansion project. He stressed that opinions shared by Council 
members on the subject re�lect their personal stance and not that of the Town’s. 
 
Councilman Jim Harton acknowledged the productive efforts of the Town’s 
committees, notably the Finance and Water Advisory Committees. 
 
Councilwoman Ann Schneider acknowledged the work of staff and committees on 
behalf of the Town, and she announced her two-year appointment to the Board of 
Directors on the NC League of Municipalities (NCLM). 
 
Mayor Jim Kinneman acknowledged Schneider’s position on the NCLM as a great 
promotion for the Town. He stated that he approached Williams Transco Company 
to participate in a local forum and was rejected. 
 
 

15. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Councilwoman Ann Schneider made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 9:54 p.m., and Mayor 
Pro Tem Mike Stone seconded. The motion passed unanimously (4-0). 

 
 

Respectfully Submitted: 

 
 

________________________________________________ 
Ashley Royal, CMC 
Deputy Town Clerk 
 

_______________________________________________ 
      Jim A. Kinneman 

Mayor 


	OAK RIDGE TOWN COUNCIL MEETING

